
'Monte Millions': The Rise and Fall of a 
Synthetic Identity Luxury Car Fraudster Who 
Targeted His Own Judge 
A man who flaunted stolen Mercedes and Maseratis on Instagram now faces new charges for 

allegedly having his daughter make false abuse claims against the federal judge who sent him to 

prison 

Montressa Cunningham called himself "Monte Millions" on social media, where he 

posted photos of himself posing with luxury cars and promoting his career as an 

author, recording artist and vodka brand ambassador. 

Prosecutors say those flashy vehicles were stolen through an elaborate fraud 

scheme that targeted car dealerships and banks across Kansas. 

 

Now he faces even more trouble. Authorities say that after a jury convicted him of 

bank fraud and money laundering, he orchestrated a scheme to intimidate the 



judge who was about to sentence him by having his own minor daughter file a false 

report of sexual and physical abuse against the jurist. 

His Scheme Was Built On Synthetic Identity And 

Document Fraud 

Monte Millions scheme began in late 2018, when Cunningham and his wife, Felicia, 

began visiting car dealerships across Kansas. They arrived with false identities, 

counterfeit pay stubs and social security numbers that belonged to other people.  

These were classic synthetic identities. 

Between December 2018 and February 2020, the couple purchased seven luxury 

vehicles from Kansas dealerships. The collection included a 2015 Maserati, a 2016 

Lexus, two Land Rovers, two Mercedes sedans and a BMW. 

The loans were real but he had no intention of paying the loans. 

He Then Washed The Titles 

According to prosecutors, once the couple received the title documents showing 

the lender's lien on each vehicle, Cunningham got to work. He applied a liquid 

chemical to the paper that removed the ink, erasing the lien information entirely. 

With the altered documents in hand, he would travel to county treasurer offices in 

different states to register the vehicles. Because the offices had no way to detect the 

original lien from another jurisdiction, they issued clean titles. Kansas law permits 

only one security interest on a vehicle at a time, so the new title appeared 

legitimate. 

Then He Turned The Cars Into Cash 

The clean titles meant they could cash in on the cars. Cunningham sold two 

vehicles outright for cash in Georgia, collecting $45,462. He took the 2015 Maserati 

to Jim Ellis Volkswagen in Georgia and walked away with $25,462. The Lexus went 

to Carmax for $20,000. 

The remaining five vehicles became collateral for short term title loans. 

Cunningham visited title loan shops in Kansas and Missouri, presenting his 

fraudulent clear titles and walking out with cash. Missouri Title Loans gave him 



$10,000 for a Mercedes. Loan Max in Olathe, Kansas handed over $11,560 for a Land 

Rover. 

He Pretended To Be Rich But He Was Not 

A Google search for "Monte Millions" reveals an person who spends considerable 

effort building a public image of success and wealth.  

His Instagram account told a particular story. Prosecutors included a screenshot in 

court filings showing Cunningham posed beside what appears to be one of the 

fraudulently obtained vehicles at a dealership.  

Yet his financial disclosures to probation officers 

told a different story. Cunningham reported 

monthly income of $3,000. His wife reported 

$6,000. Their monthly household expenses 

totaled nearly $25,000. 

Prosecutors noted the math simply did not 

work. Either his public persona was smoke and 

mirrors, they wrote, or he was hiding income 

from the court. 

A Pattern of Fraud Going Back Decades 

The luxury car scheme was not Cunningham's 

first encounter with the criminal justice system. 

His record includes convictions for grand theft, 

multiple worthless check charges and forgery 

dating back to 1998. 

Though these convictions were more than 20 

years old and did not add points to his sentencing guidelines, prosecutors argued 

they showed a long pattern of fraudulent behavior. He had spent decades 

exploiting and manipulating others for financial gain. 

Contempt in the Courtroom 



Even before his conviction, Cunningham's behavior frustrated the court. He 

arrived late on multiple occasions, including after the jury had already been seated 

and sworn in. 

Prosecutors noted he showed no remorse for his crimes. He never accepted 

responsibility for his role in the fraud. The government asked for 57 months in 

prison, the top of the sentencing guidelines range. 

The False Abuse Report Against Judge 

In April 2024, while Cunningham was awaiting his sentence on the fraud charges, 

someone placed a call to the Kansas Department for Children and Families. The 

caller claimed to be an immediate family member of Judge Crouse and reported 

that the judge had sexually and physically abused them. 

Federal investigators determined the call was a fake. According to the new 

indictment, Cunningham had directed his own minor daughter to impersonate the 

judge's family member and make the false report. 

The scheme appeared designed to intimidate Judge Crouse or derail the 

proceedings against Cunningham. Instead, it resulted in three new federal charges. 



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

District of Kansas 
(Topeka Docket) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. CASE NO. 

MONTRESSA CUNNINGHAM, 

   also known as “Monty Cunningham,” 

and 

FELICIA CUNNINGHAM, 

Defendants.  

SEALED INDICTMENT 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

At all times relevant to this Indictment: 

Background 

1. The defendants, MONTRESSA CUNNINGHAM, also known as “Monty

Cunningham,” and FELICIA CUNNINGHAM, engaged in a scheme to defraud vehicle 

dealerships, financial institutions, and title loan companies in Kansas, and elsewhere, by 

submitting false and fraudulent loan documents for the purpose of obtaining financing for 

vehicle purchases, cash title loans, and cash proceeds from the sale of the vehicles. 

2. The defendants, husband and wife, were residents of Kansas and Georgia.

21-40105-01/02-TC

Case 5:21-cr-40105-TC   Document 1   Filed 12/08/21   Page 1 of 13



3. Each of the following was a financial institution as that term was defined in 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 20(1), since it was an insured depository under the 

Federal Deposit Insurance Act, Title 12, United States Code, Section 1813(c)(2): 

A. Intrust Bank, headquarters in Wichita, Kansas 

B. Wells Fargo Auto, headquarters in San Francisco, California 

C. Credit Union of America, headquarters in Wichita, Kansas 

D. Great Plains Credit Union, headquarters in Joplin, Missouri 

E. Mechanics Bank, headquarters in Richmond, California 

F. Ally Financial, headquarters in Detroit, Michigan. 

 

4. Loan Max Title Loan, located in Olathe, Kansas, and Loan Smart Title 

Loan, located in Topeka, Kansas are businesses that offer short-term cash loans using a 

clear vehicle title as credit for the loan.  Loan Max Title Loan and Loan Smart Title Loan 

are operated by Select Management Recourses, which is headquartered in Alpharetta, 

Georgia.  Loan applications are processed via the internet through a server in Alpharetta, 

Georgia. 

5. Each of the following was a financial institution as that term was defined in 

Title 31, United States Code, Section 5312: 

A. Carmax;  

B. Jim Ellis Volkswagen; 

C. Missouri Title Loan; 

D. Loan Max Title Loan; 

E. Loan Smart Title Loan; and  

F. Check Into Cash Title Loan.  

 

The Scheme 

6. Beginning on or about December 3, 2018, and continuing to on or about 

February 3, 2020, the defendants MONTRESSA CUNNINGHAM, also known as 

“Monty Cunningham,” and FELICIA CUNNINGHAM devised a scheme and artifice to 
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defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises, with the intent to defraud vehicle dealerships, 

financial institutions and title loan business. 

7. It was part of the scheme that beginning on or about December 3, 2018, the 

defendants applied for loans to purchase seven vehicles through dealerships located in the 

District of Kansas, using a combination of false and fraudulent information, including 

social security numbers issued to other persons, false residential addresses, and false 

employment information including: counterfeit pay stubs, monthly income, place of 

employment, and length of employment.  The loans were processed through and financed 

by financial institutions. 

8. It was part of the scheme that for some of the vehicle purchases, the 

defendants utilized email communications and online applications. 

9. It was part of the scheme that once the defendants’ loan application was 

approved by the financial institution, a lien was recorded on the title document and the 

title document was provided to the defendants. Subsequently, the defendants altered the 

title documents to physically erase the lien and other information from the title, including 

the name(s) of the purchasers and the address.  

10. It was part of the scheme that the defendants used the altered title 

documents to register the vehicle in either Kansas or Georgia.  The registering State then 

issued the defendants a clear title.  Kansas law and Kansas Department of Motor Vehicles 

only permits one security interest (lien) on a vehicle at a time. 
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11. It was a further part of the scheme that the defendants either sold the 

vehicles for cash or used the clear title as collateral to cash loans. The defendants used 

false information, including employment information and social security numbers, to 

apply for the title loans. Additionally, the defendants falsely claimed to have full legal 

title to the vehicles and that the vehicles were clear of any other liens, security interests or 

other claims.  Once the title loan company approved the loan based on the information 

provided by the defendants, the title loan company recorded their lien the vehicle’s 

previously clear title. 

12. As a result of the scheme, the defendants caused an approximate loss to the 

financial institutions of $264,450.91. As a further result of the scheme, the defendants 

caused title loan companies and individuals who purchased the vehicles to pay the 

defendants approximately $85,010.00 in cash. 

COUNT 1 

 

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT BANK FRAUD AND WIRE FRAUD 

[18 U.S.C. § 1349] 

 

13. Paragraphs 1 through 12 are incorporated herein by reference as through 

fully restated. 

14. Beginning on or about December 3, 2018, and continuing to on or about 

February 3, 2020, in the District of Kansas and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MONTRESSA CUNNINGHAM, 

also known as “Monty Cunningham,”  

and 

FELICIA CUNNINGHAM, 
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knowingly and willfully combined, conspired, confederated, and agreed to: (a) execute 

and attempt to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud financial institutions, and to 

obtain moneys, funds, and other property owned by, and under the custody control of the 

financial institutions, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1344; 

and (b) devise a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by 

means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and for 

the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, did transmit and cause to be 

transmitted, by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, 

writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, in violation to Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1343.  

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349. 

COUNTS 2-8 

 

BANK FRAUD 

[18 U.S.C. § 1344] 

 

 

15. Paragraphs 1 through 12 are incorporated herein by reference as though 

fully restated. 

16. On or about the dates set forth below, in the District of Kansas and 

elsewhere, the defendants, 

MONTRESSA CUNNINGHAM,  

also known as “Monty Cunningham,” 

and 

 FELICIA CUNNINGHAM, 
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did knowingly and intentionally execute and attempt to execute the above-described 

scheme and artifice to defraud the financial institutions listed below, and to obtain 

moneys, funds, or other property owned by, or under the control and custody of  the 

financial institutions, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, as described below: 

Count 
On or about 

date 
Financial Institution and Fraudulent Transaction 

2 12/3/2018 
Loan from Intrust Bank for $28,148.95 for purchase of 2013 

Mercedes  

3 1/3/2019 
Loan from Wells Fargo Auto for $44,963.75 for purchase of 

2015 Maserati 

4 1/26/2019 
Loan from Credit Union of America for $32,395.88 for 

purchase of 2016 Lexus 

5 5/2/2019 
Loan from Great Plains Credit Union for $53,917.62 for 

purchase of 2014 Land Rover 

6 11/30/2019 
Loan from Mechanics Bank for $28,601.50 for purchase of 

2012 BMW 

7 12/13/2019 
Loan from Ally Financial for $36,169.20 for purchase of 2014 

Mercedes 

8 12/17/2019 
Loan from Ally Financial for $40,254.01 for purchase of 2015 

Land Rover 

 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344 and 2. 

 

COUNTS 9-11 

 

WIRE FRAUD 

[18 U.S.C. § 1343] 

 

17. Paragraphs 1 through 12 are incorporated herein by reference as though 

fully restated. 

18.  On or about the dates set forth below, in the District of Kansas and 

elsewhere, the defendants, 
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MONTRESSA CUNNINGHAM,  

also known as “Monty Cunningham,” 

 

and 

FELICIA CUNNINGHAM, 

 

knowingly and intentionally devised the above-described scheme and artifice to defraud 

vehicle dealerships, financial institutions and title loan companies, and to obtain money 

and property from them by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, 

transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate 

and foreign commerce, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, as described below: 

Count 
On or about 

date 
Wire Transmission 

9 
4/9/2019-

5/3/2109 

Wire communication for purchase of 2014 Land Rover from 

Yahoo.com email account with a server in California to KC 

Motor Company located in Overland Park, Kansas. 

10 11/20/2019 

Title loan application at Loan Max Title Loan in Olathe, 

Kansas transferred via internet to server in Alpharetta 

Georgia. 

11 2/3/2020 

Title loan application at Loan Smart Title Loan in Topeka, 

Kansas transferred via internet to server in Alpharetta, 

Georgia. 

 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.  
 

COUNTS 12-17 

 

MONEY LAUNDERING 

[18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)] 

 

19. Paragraphs 1 through 12 are incorporated herein by reference as though 

fully restated.  

20. On or about the dates set forth below, in the District of Kansas and 

elsewhere, the defendants, 
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MONTRESSA CUNNINGHAM, 

also known as “Monty Cunningham,” 

 

and 

FELICIA CUNNINGHAM, 

 

did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct financial transactions affecting interstate 

and foreign commerce, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, that 

is bank fraud as charged in Counts 2 through 8, knowing that the transaction described 

below was designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise, the nature, ownership, 

and control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and that while conducting 

and attempting to conduct such financial transaction, defendants knew that the property 

involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful 

activity, as follows: 

Count 
On or about 

date 
Financial Transaction 

12 5/6/2019 
Sold and transferred title of 2016 Lexus for $20,000.00 cash to 

Carmax 

13 3/22/2019 
Sold and transferred title of 2015 Maserati for $25,462.00 

cash to Jim Ellis Volkswagen 

14 1/22/2020 
Transferred title for 2014 Mercedes as collateral to Missouri 

Title Loans for $10,000.00 cash loan 

15 11/20/2019 
Transferred title for 2014 Land Rover as collateral to Loan 

Max Title Loan for $11,560.00 cash loan 

16 2/3/2020 
Transferred title for 2015 Land Rover as collateral to Loan 

Smart Title Loan for $7,488.00 cash loan 

17 2/4/2020 
Transferred title for 2012 BMW as collateral to Check Into 

Cash for $10,500.00 cash. 

 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), and Title 

18, United States Code, Section 2. 
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FORFEITURE NOTICE 

 

21. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 11 and Counts 1 through 

18 of this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose 

of alleging forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981 and 982, and 

Title 28, United States Code 2461. 

Bank Fraud Violations: 

22. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses set forth in Counts 1 

through 8 of this Indictment, the defendants shall forfeit to the United States of America, 

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A), any property constituting 

or derived from proceeds the person obtained, directly or indirectly as a result of such 

violation.  The property to be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

A. Money Judgment: 

 

A forfeiture money judgment against each defendant in an amount 

equal to the gross proceeds obtained by that defendant from the 

commission of Counts 1 through 8;  

 

B.  Motor vehicles: 

 

     1. 2013 Mercedes; VIN 4JGDA5JB6DA147818 

     2. 2014 Land Rover, VIN SALGS2TF5EA194913; 

     3. 2012 BMW, VIN WBALZ5C56CC619600; 

     4. 2014 Mercedes, VIN WDDHF8JB4EA904537; and 

     5. 2015 Land Rover, VIN SALGS2TF9FA242902. 

 

Wire Fraud Violations 

23. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses set forth in Counts 9 

through 11 of this Indictment, the defendants shall forfeit to the United States of 

America, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, 
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United States Code, Section 2461, any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is 

derived from proceeds traceable to the offenses.  The property to be forfeited includes, 

but is not limited to, the following: 

A. Money Judgment: 

 

A forfeiture money judgment against each defendant in an amount 

equal to the gross proceeds obtained by that defendant from the 

commission of Counts 9 through 13; and 

 

B.   2014 Land Rover vehicle, VIN SALGS2TF5EA194913. 

 

Money Laundering Violations: 

 

26. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses set forth in Counts 12 

through 17, the defendants shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to Title 

18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), any property, real or personal, involved in 

such offenses or any property traceable to such property, including but not limited to, the 

following: 

 A.  Money Judgment: 

A forfeiture money judgment against each defendant in an amount equal 

to the value of the property involved in Counts 13 through 18; 

 

B. Motor vehicles: 

1. 2016 Lexus, VIN JTHBK1GG4G224817; 

2. 2015 Maserati, VIN ZAM57RTA9F1145417; 

3. 2014 Mercedes, VIN WDDHF8JB4EA904537; 

4. 2014 Land Rover, VIN SALGS2TF5EA194913; 

5. 2015 Land Rover, VIN SALGS2TF9FA242902; and 

6. 2012 BMW, VIN WBALZ5C56CC619600. 

 

Substitute Assets  
 

27. If any of the property described above as a result of any act or omission 
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of the defendants: 

A. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

B. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

C. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

D. has been substantially diminished in value; or

E. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided

without difficulty,

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant 

to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

A TRUE BILL. 

December 8, 2021    s/Foreperson  x      

DATE FOREPERSON OF THE GRAND JURY 

DUSTON J. SLINKARD 

ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

By: /s/ Sara L. Walton 

Sara L. Walton 

Assistant United States Attorney 

District of Kansas 

444 Quincy St., Suite 290 

Topeka, Kansas  66683 

Ph: (785) 295-2850 

Fax: (785) 295-2853 

Email:sara.walton@usdoj.gov 

Ks. S. Ct. No. 24106 

IT IS REQUESTED THAT THE TRIAL BE HELD IN TOPEKA, KANSAS 
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PENALTIES 

Count 1: Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud 

Counts 2-8: Bank Fraud 

• Punishable by a term of imprisonment of not more than thirty (30) years. 18.

U.S.C. §§ 1349 and 1344.

• A term of supervised release of not more than five (5) years.  18 U.S.C. §

3583(b)(1).

• A fine not to exceed $1,000,000. 18 U.S.C. § 1344.

• A mandatory special assessment of $100.00. 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(2)(A).

• Restitution.

• Forfeiture.

Count 1: Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud 

Counts 9-11: Wire Fraud 

• Punishable by a term of imprisonment of not more than twenty (20) years. 18.

U.S.C. §§ 1349 and 1343.

• A term of supervised release of not more than three (3) years.  18 U.S.C. §

3583(b)(2).

• A fine not to exceed $250,000. 18 U.S.C. § 3571(b)(3).

• A mandatory special assessment of $100.00. 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(2)(A).

• Restitution.

• Forfeiture.

Counts 12-17: Money Laundering 

• Punishable by a term of imprisonment of not more than twenty (20) years. 18.

U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1).

• A term of supervised release of not more than three (3) years.  18 U.S.C. §
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3583(b)(2). 

• A fine not to exceed $500,000 or twice the value of the property involved in the

transaction, whichever is greater. 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1).

• A mandatory special assessment of $100.00. 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(2)(A).

• Restitution.

• Forfeiture.
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